STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. , Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000136

RECEIVED

JUL - 9 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

KEVIN C. BRADLEY, 339031,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, S. C. 29204
(803) 738-8622
(803) 738-1600 (FAX)

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Did the lower court erred in finding knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to a direct appeal?

II.

Did the lower court err in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner on all the *Batson* related claims raised in this PCR action ?

III

Did the lower court err in ruling that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a continuance after a material amendment to Petitioner 's indictment where the new indictment was presented to the Grand Jury days before the Petitioner's trial, and where he was not made aware of the more serious charge brought in the new indictment until immediately before his trial.

IV.

Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to fully articulate the Petitioner's objection to the testimony of State witness Barbara Gregg, RN, for failing to present appropriate authority in support of the Petitioner's objection to this testimony and for failing to object to hearsay testimony from State witnesses Trina Hamlet and Robin Tyler Griggs, where said testimony was clearly hearsay and as such violated Petitioner's right to fully confront his accusers?

V.

Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to object to testimony from forensic interviewer Robin Tyler Griggs in which she was allowed to offer expert opinion concerning the Victim's competency at the time of her taped interview where said testimony went beyond the scope of the expertise for which she was qualified as a witness and improperly bolstered the Victim's testimony?

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL
PURSUANT TO RULE 243 (i)(2), SCACR**

1. The trial court erred, and thereby violated Petitioner's right to due process of law, by granting the State's *Batson* Motion where the record reflects that Petitioner set forth race neutral explanations for his use of a peremptory challenge to remove each of the jurors at issue in the State's motion.
2. The trial court erred, and thereby violated Petitioner's Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution, by permitting State Witness, Barbara Gregg, to testify to statements made to her by the Victim concerning who the person responsible for her pregnancy was.
3. The trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce hearsay testimony through Nurse Practitioner, Barbara Gregg, and thereby violated Petitioner's rights pursuant to the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, in which she was allowed to testify that the Victim told her "Kevin" had been having sex with her since she was ten years old.
4. The trial court erred, and thereby violated Petitioner's right to due process of law, by denying his motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor where the State failed to present any direct evidence, or substantial circumstantial evidence, that a sexual battery involving penetration occurred before the Victim's eleventh (11th) birthday.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the orders of commitment of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was originally indicted for Second Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor on Indictment No. 2009-GS-45-249. The State subsequently sought an amendment to the original indictment to add a count of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor involving the same Victim as the original indictment for Second Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor. The amended indictment, charging Petitioner with both first degree CSC with a minor and second degree CSC with a minor, was true billed by the Grand Jury on January 21, 2010, and retained the original indictment number of 2009-GS-45-249. Petitioner was represented in the Court of General Sessions by retained counsel, Richard Strobel, Esquire.

Petitioner was also indicted for a separate count of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor Second Degree involving a different Victim in Indictment No. 2010-GS-45-30. Petitioner was represented on that charge by Assistant Public Defender, Legrand Carraway. On January 25, 2010, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman, presiding circuit court judge, for a guilty plea proceeding at which he was expected to enter pleas to one count of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor 1st Degree from Amended Indictment No. 2009-GS-45-249 and one count of Second Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor on Indictment No. 2010-GS-45-30. The record of that proceeding confirms that the State had agreed to dismiss count two of Amended Indictment No. ~~2009-GS-45-249~~ which charged Petitioner with Second Degree CSC with a Minor involving the same minor as referenced in Count One of that indictment. At that proceeding, Petitioner was anticipated to waive Grand Jury presentment on Indictment No. 2010-GS-45-30. That plea proceeding was terminated before the Court accepted Petitioner's pleas after he advised the Court that he did not "want to give up [his] rights." Plea

Hearing, 1.25.2010, Tr. p. 7, ll. 1-9. Attorney Carraway, spoke once on the record during this plea proceeding. Plea Hearing, 1.25.2010, Tr. p. 4, ll. 15 – 18. Likewise, Attorney Strobel spoke out only once during this proceeding and that was when he introduced an affidavit prepared by him in anticipation of the pleas. Plea Hearing, 1.25.2010, Tr. p. 4, ll. 12 – 14.

Petitioner proceeded to trial by jury before the Honorable Clifton Newman on Indictment No. ~~2009-GS-45-249~~ later in the same day as the attempted plea proceeding; January 25, 2010. Petitioner was found guilty as charged on both counts of Indictment No. ~~2009-GS-45-249~~. Sentencing was deferred on these two judgments until January 27, 2010, at which time Petitioner was sentenced by Judge Newman to twenty-five (25) years incarceration for First Degree CSC with a Minor, and twenty (20) years for Second Degree CSC with a Minor. Said sentences were expressly ordered to be served concurrently. No direct appeal from these judgments and sentences was perfected on behalf of Petitioner.

On January 27, 2010, immediately after the Court imposed sentences on both counts of Indictment No. ~~2009-GS-45-249~~, Judge Newman reminded Petitioner that he was looking at a mandatory life without parole sentence if he was ultimately convicted on the other pending charge against him. App. p.307, ll. 4 – 11. Petitioner then asked if he could just go ahead and plead guilty, be sentenced on his other outstanding charge and be sentenced concurrently. While Petitioner stated that he did not want to plead guilty, because he knew he was not guilty of that crime, he indicated a desire to just plead and “get it over with” and receive concurrent sentences. He reminded the Court that he had reached a plea agreement with the State on these charges before his trial. App. p. 307, ll. 12 – 18. At that juncture, Judge Newman informed Petitioner that;

Well, I don't accept guilty pleas from people who are not guilty. I only take guilty pleas from people who are guilty. They have to convince me, just as the Solicitor has to convince the jury that you are guilty in this case, you've got to convince me that you are guilty in that other case before I can accept a guilty plea.

We'll give you overnight to think about that.

App. p. 307, ll. 19 – 25.

Petitioner originally filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief on September 29, 2010. The State made Return to said application on September 7, 2011. In said application, docketed at 2010-CP-45-389, Petitioner raised allegations concerning the judgments and sentences imposed against him following his jury trial on Indictment No. 2009-GS-45-0249, as well as allegations addressing the judgment and sentence imposed following his plea of guilty on Indictment No. 2010-GS-45-030. Pursuant to agreement with the State, Petitioner subsequently filed a separate application separating his claims concerning his guilty plea on Indictment No. 2010-GS-45-030 from the allegations addressing his jury trial. That Application was docketed at 2013-CP-45-00098.

An evidentiary hearing was convened in this matter at the Sumter County Courthouse on May 27, 2014. Petitioner was present for this proceeding and was represented by Tara Dawn Shurling, of the Richland County Bar. The Respondent was represented by Daniel Gourley, Assistant Attorney General.

In his Application for Post-Conviction Relief filed September 29, 2010, the Petitioner alleged that he was being held in custody unlawfully for the following reasons:

The Petitioner has alleged generally that he received ineffective assistance of counsel prior to and during his trial in violation of his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as, Article I, Section 14, of the South Carolina Constitution. In support of that claim he has raised the following specific allegations in his Application for Post-Conviction Relief:

1. Plea Counsel failed to provide client effective assistance of counsel prior to and during his plea proceeding. The Applicant's plea of were coerced by Counsels failure to provide adequate representation. Trial Counsel failed to file a direct appeal for the Applicant and the Applicant did not

knowingly waive his right to a direct appeal.

2. The Applicant's plea of guilty was not voluntarily and intelligently entered. The judgment and sentence against the Applicant were entered in violation of his rights to due process of law and effective assistance of counsel.

In his Second Amended Application for Post-Conviction Relief, filed on May 21, 2014, the Applicant raised the following additional specific allegations:

1. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to sufficiently argue the validity of the race neutral explanations given by the Applicant for striking jurors during the selection of the first jury selected in his case.

2. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to fully argue against the selection of a second jury panel in the Applicant's case where the reasons given by the Applicant for striking the jurors in question during the State's *Batson* challenge were sufficiently race neutral pursuant to known precedent in South Carolina at the time of the Applicant's trial.

3. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to repeat and fully articulate for the record the Applicant's reasons for striking each of the jurors in dispute at his trial during the *Batson* hearing held pursuant to motion by the State.

4. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to explain to the Applicant that all of his reasons for striking each juror against whom he exercised a peremptory strike had to be fully stated for the record *as to each juror* when the strike used against that particular juror was addressed during the *Batson* hearing held pursuant to the State's motion.

5. Trial Counsel failed to provide the Applicant with reasonable professional assistance of counsel in that he failed to advise the Applicant, who being allowed by Trial Counsel to participate in decisions concerning the use of peremptory strikes in the selection of his jury, that in order to preserve a record for appeal from the trial court's ruling on a potential *Batson* motion by the State, he needed to be prepared fully articulate his reasons for using strikes against each juror.

6. Trial Counsel failed to provide the Applicant with reasonable professional assistance of counsel in that he failed to restate for each juror addressed during the *Batson* hearing the Applicant's reasons for using strikes against each juror as articulated in Trial Counsel's general response to the State's *Batson* motion..

7. Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to exercise a peremptory strikes to remove five (5) jurors from the Applicant's jury who had been previously struck by the Applicant in the selection of his first jury where the

explanations given by the Applicant for the use of a strike against each of these jurors, if properly articulated, provided a race neutral justification for the use of a peremptory strike against each of these jurors.

8. Trial Counsel was ineffective for characterizing the Applicant's reason for striking Juror number 96, Kenneth Lancaster, as an excuse, where this statement supported the prosecution's position that the reasons proffered by the Applicant for striking this juror were pretextual.

9. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to fully articulate the Applicant's objection to the testimony of State witness Barbara Greggs and for failing to present appropriate authority in support of the Applicant's objection to this testimony.

10. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to research and present potential character witnesses to testify in the Applicant's behalf at trial; specifically Sgt. Robert McClary, Debra Black, Manager at Skyes in Kingstree, South Carolina, Sgt. Staggers, employed with the 1052nd Transportation Company Army National Guard, and Frederick Davis of the Kingstree Police Department.

11. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to present testimony from Sgt. Robert McClary, Army National Guard, who would have been able to present alibi evidence for some of the dates the Applicant was accused of committing sexual battery upon the victim, Shataria G. and where said witness could have presented character testimony for the Applicant.

12. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to request a continuance after a material amendment to Applicant's indictment where the new indictment was presented to the Grand Jury days before the Applicant's trial, and where he was not made aware of the more serious charge brought in the new indictment until immediately before his trial.

During the evidentiary hearing held in this matter, PCR Counsel moved to amend the Petitioner's allegation to include the following additional issues which were developed during the testimony and arguments presented during that proceeding:

13. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to hearsay testimony from State witness Trina Hamlet, where said testimony was clearly hearsay and as such violated Applicant's right to fully confront his accuser and where said testimony prejudiced Applicant by allowing the prosecution to improperly bolster the credibility of the Victim in this case.

14. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to hearsay testimony from State witness Robin Tyler Griggs, where said testimony was clearly hearsay and as such violated Applicant's right to fully

confront his accuser and where said testimony prejudiced Applicant by allowing the prosecution to improperly bolster the credibility of the Victim in this case.

15. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony from forensic interviewer Robin Tyler Griggs in which she was allowed to offer expert opinion concerning the Victim's competency at the time of her taped interview where said testimony went beyond the scope of the expertise for which she was qualified as a witness and improperly bolstered the Victim's testimony.

In deciding this case, the lower court had before it a transcript of the pre-trial hearing held on January 25, 2010, the sentencing portion of the trial record dated January 25 -27, 2010, a transcript of the January 28, 2010 guilty plea proceeding, a transcript of the PCR hearing held on May 27, 2014, the exhibits introduced during the PCR proceeding, the Petitioner's records from the South Carolina Department of Corrections and the records of the Williamsburg County Clerk of Court regarding the subject conviction and sentence.

An Order of Dismissal denying the Petitioner's Post-Conviction Relief Application was filed on August 25, 2014. Petitioner served opposing counsel and the presiding PCR judge with a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, on October 8, 2014. Said motion was filed on October 15, 2014. In this motion, Petitioner noted that, although Respondent had objected the amendments made by Petitioner during his PCR hearing, the lower court had chosen to rule on one of those issues (Allegation 13) while failing to mention two other issues (Allegations 14 and 15). The lower court issued an Amended Order on December 5, 2014, which included rulings unfavorable to Petitioner on Allegations 14 and 15 which had not been addressed in the original Order and denied reconsideration on all other matters addressed in Petitioner's Motion to Alter of Amend. Petitioner's Notice of Appeal from both orders issued on his Application for PCR docketed at 2010-CP-45-389 was filed with this Honorable Court on January 22, 2015.

Counsel for Petitioner now asks that the writ be issued and that she be permitted to submit a full briefing on the issues summarized herein.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Application for Post-Conviction Relief generally raises numerous specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The burden of proof is on the Petitioner in a Post-Conviction Relief proceeding to prove the allegations raised in his Application for Relief and at his Post-Conviction Relief hearing. *Thompson v. State*, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000). In a Post-Conviction Relief proceedings, the Petitioner has the burden of proof to establish that he is entitled to relief by a preponderance of the evidence. Rule 71.1(e), S.C.R.Civ.P.

In evaluating an Application for Post-Conviction Relief, the moving party must demonstrate that Defense Counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In other words, the Petitioner must show that, but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. *Id.*; *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). A reasonable probability has been defined by our Supreme Court as a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 330, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

On the one hand, where Defense Counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain trial strategies, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). On the other hand, counsel may not explain away errors and omissions which acted to prejudice his client's ability to receive a fair trial simply by labeling them matters of trial strategy or tactics. In the case of *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002), the Supreme Court of South Carolina found that,

Counsel must articulate a **valid** reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. Where counsel articulates a strategy, it is measured against an objective standard of reasonableness.

Relevant Testimony

During the PCR hearing held in this case, Trial Counsel's responses to most questions were vague: He acknowledged that he was retained to represent Petitioner. When asked how long he had represented Petitioner before this case went to trial he responded, "***Seemed like for years. These instances took place sometime before the trial.***" App. p. 369, l. 21- p. 370, l. 2.

He testified that he "***could not recall***" whether his file contained any indication of when he was retained. App. p. 370, ll. 3-5.

When asked what charge Petitioner was charged with right up until days before Petitioner's trial, he responded, "***He was charged with raping a 10 year old child. She gave birth to a baby when she was 11. They did D.N.A. testing of the baby, and it turned out that he was the father, and he alleged that he raped her when she was 11, not 10. So basically that was the issue: when was she raped?***" App. p. 371, ll. 1-5.

Trial Counsel could not recall that Petitioner was originally only charged with second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. p. 371, ll. 6-9. Ultimately he acknowledged that the amended indictment charging Petitioner with First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor was not true billed until January 21, 2010; just days before Petitioner's trial began on

January 25, 2010. He could not recall, however, how long before January 25, 2010, he was aware that the more serious charge of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor had been added against Petitioner. App. p. 371 , l. 16- p. 379, l. 18. It is apparent that he had to know the additional charge had been made prior to the attempted plea hearing on January 25, 2010 because when they went to Court that day he obviously was aware Petitioner was going to plead guilty to the more serious charge of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor. App. 372, ll. 15-21; Plea Hearing, 1.25.2010, App. p. 4, ll. 6 – 14.

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