RECEIVED

NOV 16 2015

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Williamsburg County
Court of Common Pleas
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

2010-CP-45-0389
Appellate Case No. 2015-000136

KEVIN C. BRADLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DANIEL GOURLEY
Assistant Attorney General
Bar No. 100934

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

In the instant case, the PCR Court found Trial Counsel credibly testified that he advised Petitioner of his right to file a direct appeal and Petitioner did not request Trial Counsel to file an appeal. (App. p. 537). Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (This Court gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved). Specifically, Trial Counsel stated that he advised Petitioner of right to appeal and that if Petitioner wanted to appeal then he needed to inform Trial Counsel within ten days. (App. p. 410 lines 10-25). Trial Counsel stated that Petitioner never requested an appeal be filed. (App. p. 421 lines 2-7). Based off of the foregoing, there is ample probative evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to direct appeal.

II. Probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in his representation of Petitioner on all the Batson related claims.

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in handling the Batson motion during jury selection. However, this claim is meritless, as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

This Court has consistently held that the process of jury selection inherently falls within the expertise and experience of trial counsel. Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 511 S.E.2d 62 (1999). In Palacio, this Court found defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to strike a juror as requested by the defendant. Id. at 516. This Court in Palacio further noted that “a criminal defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury, but only a right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.” Id. at 516. In the instant case, Petitioner argues Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to fully articulate Petitioner's basis for striking various jurors.

However, Trial Counsel testified that it was Petitioner who requested the various jurors be struck. Trial Counsel stated that Petitioner requested the jurors be struck based on the way they dressed, looked, and acted, among other reasons. (App. p. 415 line 15—p. 416 line 1). Trial Counsel testified that he, acting as Petitioner's counsel, did not see a sufficient basis to strike the jurors. (App. p. 54 lines 7-10). Trial Counsel testified that he indulged Petitioner's request to strike the jurors and gave the explanation elicited from Petitioner as to why the jurors were struck. (App. p. 415 line 15—p. 416 line 19). Trial Counsel opined that he could not have argued or developed Petitioner's reasons for striking any better. (App. p. 416 line 23—p. 417 line 1). Trial Counsel noted that he did not have a basis to strike the jurors during the second

jury selection process. (App. p. 416 lines 11-15). Trial Counsel opined that Petitioner had a fair and impartial jury at trial. (App .p. 417 lines 2-4). The PCR Court properly found that Trial Counsel did not provide deficient representation during jury selection.

Furthermore, the PCR Court properly found that Petitioner presented no credible evidence that Trial Counsel's alleged failure to present various arguments to strike the jurors resulted in a violation of his right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury. Instead, Petitioner relies on mere speculation that a stricken juror would have had an inherit bias against him for being stricken previously. See Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 606 S.E.2d 761 (2004) (Finding respondent failed to present any evidence to support a finding that counsel's error resulting in a violation of respondent's right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury). Based off of the foregoing, there is ample evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in regards to jury selection.

III. Probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in failing to request a continuance due to Petitioner's indictment being amended to include a charge of criminal sexual conduct-first degree, where Petitioner was originally indicted for criminal sexual conduct-second degree.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request a continuance due to the State amending the indictment to include an enhanced charge of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. However, this argument is without merit as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

The PCR Court found Trial Counsel credibly testified that he was prepared to defend Petitioner against the enhanced charge of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. (App. p. 388 line 18—p. 389 line 10; p. 533). Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430

S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (This Court gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved). Furthermore, Petitioner failed to present any credible arguments or evidence to show how additional preparation would have resulted in a different outcome. See Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 213–15, 481 S.E.2d 129, 131–32 (1997) (holding when a petitioner fails to establish what evidence he could have procured had counsel moved for a continuance, he fails to establish how he was prejudiced by counsel's incomplete preparation). Instead, Petitioner falls well below his burden of proof and relies solely on speculation that Trial Counsel could have explored various aspects of the case on cross-examination and could have introduced various items into evidence. Based off of the foregoing, there is ample evidence to support the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective in regards to this allegation.

IV. Probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective when objecting to Barbara Gregg's testimony and Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the testimony of Trina Hamlet and Robin Tyler Griggs.¹

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective when objecting to Barbara Gregg's testimony, for failing to object to both Trina Hamlet's and Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony. However, this argument is without merit as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

a. Trial Counsel was not ineffective when objecting to Barbara Gregg's testimony.

¹ Respondent submits that these are three separate and distinct allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. As a result, each allegation should have a separate analysis of deficiency and prejudice as required by Strickland.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective when objecting to Barbara Gregg's testimony. However, this argument is meritless as ample evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

Petitioner argues Trial Counsel failed to fully articulate his objection, failed to bring to the trial court's attention that some of Barbara Gregg's testimony was hearsay within hearsay, and failed to argue that the testimony's prejudicial effect outweighed the testimony's probative value. To the contrary, a review of the record reveals that Trial Counsel made timely objections to Barbara Gregg's testimony where appropriate. (App. p. 65 line 18-19; p. 66 line 20; p. 68 line 2; page 77-79). Trial Counsel argued against the State's assertion that the victim's statement to Barbara Gregg fell within Rule 803(2). Furthermore, it is apparent from the record that Trial Counsel was objecting to the hearsay testimony of Barbara Gregg. Trial Counsel opined that he articulated the proper objections to the best of his ability. The PCR Court found Trial Counsel properly preserved the objection for appellate review. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 439, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55 (2011). Furthermore, Petitioner failed to present any credible arguments or evidence to show how Trial Counsel's alleged deficiency was prejudicial.

b. Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Trina Hamlet's testimony.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Trina Hamlet's testimony. However, this argument is without merit as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

Petitioner argues that Trina Hamlet's testimony "went far beyond statements concerning time and place of sexual battery." (Br. p. 33). "The rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out-of-court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an

exception to the rule applies.” Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 156, 551 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2001). One exception to the rule allows limited corroborative testimony in criminal sexual conduct cases when the victim testifies. *Id.*; Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. The corroborative testimony is restricted to the victim's complaint of the time and place of the sexual assault. Dawkins, 346 S.C. at 156. Any other details or particulars, including the perpetrator's identity, must be excluded. *Id.* at 156. The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 691, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2066, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

The PCR Court found Trial Counsel’s decision not to object was reasonable. Specifically, the PCR Court noted that Petitioner argued Trial Counsel should have objected to Hamlet’s testimony that Applicant “forced having sex with her” as corroborative and cumulative. However, the fact that Petitioner had sexual relations with victim was not in dispute. Additionally, the fact that Hamlet testified the sexual molestation began in the Summer of 2008 is appropriate testimony. See Dawkins, 346 S.C. at 156, 551 S.E.2d at 262.

In addition, Applicant cannot show any resulting prejudice as a result of Counsel’s alleged deficiency as there is overwhelming evidence of guilt. Where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, a trial counsel’s deficient representation will not be prejudicial. Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 442 S.E.2d 604 (1994); See also Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001); Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 409 S.E.2d 344 (1991). The record reveals Petitioner readily admitted to the fact that he engaged in sexual intercourse with the Victim. (App. p. 244—p. 254). Petitioner admitted that he “felt terrible” and what he did was “wrong.” (App. p.

247). Petitioner admitted to raping this Victim on the couch in an apartment. (App. p. 251). Furthermore, DNA evidence proved that Victim became pregnant with Petitioner's child. (App. p. 212). Petitioner further admitted to raping the Victim during this evidentiary hearing. Petitioner only disputed whether he raped the Victim when she was ten years old. As a result, there is clear evidence of overwhelming guilt based on a review of the entire record and the testimony and evidence presented during the PCR hearing. As such, Petitioner cannot show any resulting prejudice from Trial Counsel's alleged deficiency.

c. Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony, where Trial Counsel did object to Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony.

Petitioner argues the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony. However, this argument is without merit as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

Respondent notes that Trial Counsel did object to Robin Griggs testifying as to the content of the forensic interview. (App. p. 164 line 23—p. line 16). Because Trial Counsel properly objected to Robin Griggs testifying to the contents of the forensic interview, Respondent submits that Petitioner can show no deficient performance.

Additionally, Respondent submits that Petitioner can show no prejudice as a result of Robin Griggs testifying to the content of the forensic interview. The record reveals Petitioner readily admitted to the fact that he engaged in sexual intercourse with the Victim. (App. p. 244—p. 254). Petitioner admitted that he "felt terrible" and what he did was "wrong." (App. p. 247). Petitioner admitted to raping this Victim on the couch in an apartment. (App. p. 251).

Furthermore, DNA evidence proved that Victim became pregnant with Petitioner's child. (App. p. 212). Petitioner further admitted to raping the Victim during this PCR evidentiary hearing.

The instant case is clearly distinguishable from cases relied on by Petitioner. The cases relied on by Petitioner involve situations where the defendant disputed whether a sexual battery occurred. In the instant case, there is no disputing that a sexual battery occurred on the victim while she was at least eleven years old. The sole dispute in this case was when the sexual battery began. This Court is well aware that the rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out-of-court statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted unless an exception to the rule applies. Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 156, 551 S.E.2d 260, 262 (2001). One exception to the rule allows limited corroborative testimony in criminal sexual conduct cases when the victim testifies. Id.; Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. The corroborative testimony is restricted to the victim's complaint of the *time* and place of the sexual assault. (emphasis added) Dawkins, 346 S.C. at 156, 551 S.E.2d at 262. As a result any hearsay testimony corroborating the victim's statement that the sexual battery occurred in the Summer 2008 while she was ten years old was clearly admissible. As a result, Petitioner can show no prejudice. Furthermore, any testimony elicited from Robin Tyler Griggs about the forensic interview would have been cumulative in nature because the jury had viewed the forensic interview immediately prior to Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony. (App. p. 161 lines 14-17; p. 162 line 24—p. 170 line 20).

V. Probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony from forensic interviewer Robin Tyler Griggs.

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred in finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object when Robin Tyler Griggs testified that victim was competent.

However, this argument is without merit as ample probative evidence supports the PCR Court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective.

Respondent submits that Petitioner can show no prejudice due to Trial Counsel's failure to object to Robin Tyler Griggs' testimony that victim was "competent" at the time of her interview. The record reveals Petitioner readily admitted to the fact that he engaged in sexual intercourse with the Victim. (App. p. 244—p. 254). Petitioner admitted that he "felt terrible" and what he did was "wrong." (App. p. 247). Petitioner admitted to raping this Victim on the couch in an apartment. (App. p. 251). Furthermore, DNA evidence proved that Victim became pregnant with Petitioner's child. (App. p. 212). Petitioner further admitted to raping the Victim during this evidentiary hearing.

Respondent acknowledges that this Court has consistently held that Forensic Interviewers should not testify about the credibility of victims. However, this case is clearly distinguishable from cases cited by Petitioner because the issue of whether a sexual battery occurred is not in dispute. Therefore, any potential bolstering of victim's credibility is negated by the Petitioner's own admission of guilt during the trial. The sole issue in dispute was when the sexual battery occurred. As this Court is aware the time and place of the sexual assault is proper testimony. Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. Therefore, any testimony regarding the time the sexual battery occurred is properly admissible. As a result, Petitioner suffered no prejudice due to Trial Counsel failure to object to the forensic expert commenting on the competency of the victim, where the sexual battery was not in dispute.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.